Garland School of Social Work BSW Student Handbook 2023-2024



Baccalaureate Student Handbook

Table of Contents

MESSAGE FROM THE DEAN	3
A SOCIAL WORK CAREER	4
MISSION, GOALS, AND PHILOSOPHY	5
BSW ADMISSIONS	6
5 YEAR PROGRAM	7
FINANCIAL AID	7
PROFESSIONAL STUDENT ORGANIZATIONS	8
GENERAL STUDENT POLICIES	9
ACADEMIC ADVISING AND PROFESSIONAL MENTORING	13
BACCALAUREATE SOCIAL WORK CURRICULUM	13
PRACTICUM POLICIES	14
ACADEMIC ACTIONS	14
GRIEVANCE AND APPEAL PROCEDURES	14

MESSAGE FROM THE DEAN

The best social workers have chosen their profession because they are motivated by a deep sense of calling to serve others. We will honor and help you explore your sense of calling and equip you to step into that call on your life through the professional practice of social work. Our curriculum is rigorous because we want to prepare you for the demands of professional practice wherever your calling will take you. The passion of your life deserves nothing less.

The Diana R. Garland School of Social Work offers a unique educational experience comparable to any public or private university. We prepare students for the broad and exciting fields of social work practice in both public and private settings. The school leads the nation in the field of church social work and in research that informs professional knowledge and skills for addressing religion and spirituality in all social work practice fields. Garland School of Social Work alumni are all over the nation and world, serving directly and leading others to care for the most vulnerable and broken, as well as to change social structures that will lead to greater justice and opportunity.

If you want to be a confident social worker, a social worker effective at building strong communities and families, a social worker those in need will trust with their lives and futures, a social worker equipped to succeed no matter where your calling takes you — you belong at Baylor.

With joy at the hope of working with you,



Jon Singletary, GSSW Dean

A SOCIAL WORK CAREER

A career in social work is both challenging and rewarding. From comforting an elderly person who is facing surgery, to finding a home for an abandoned child, to helping communities organize to fight for adequate police protection and street lighting — social workers are in the forefront of personal and social change. Wherever people are experiencing problems in living; wherever battles for social and personal justice are being waged — social workers are there.

Because they work with people, social workers need not only a substantial body of knowledge and specialized skills, but also self-discipline and realistic attitudes to ensure meaningful solutions to individual, family, group, organizational and societal problems. To be an effective social worker, you must be able to confront objectively the harsh realities of life while retaining a basic sense of compassion for others. You must also be motivated to help reduce human suffering and strengthen social ties.

Social work requires an interest in helping people with a wide range of problems in a wide range of settings. Social workers practice in advocacy organizations, facilities for the aged, schools, churches, hospitals and other health facilities, group homes, mental health facilities, prisons, community centers, employee assistance programs, adoption agencies, family services, preschool settings, public welfare settings, child and adult protective services, residential settings for children or adults, legislatures, social change organizations, and many others.

With such diversity of practice, what binds social workers into a common profession? First, social workers view people and their environment as integrally intertwined and interactive. Therefore, social workers not only work with individuals toward change, but also share a commitment to institutional and societal change. As professionals, social workers are devoted to helping people function as well as they can within their environment. Second, social workers maintain a service commitment to the disadvantaged, vulnerable, and economically deprived segments of the population. Historically, social workers led the fight for child labor laws, voting rights for women, and other progressive milestones. Finally, social workers share a common set of professional values and ethics, and a common set of basic or generic skills that enable them to work with diverse populations and fill diverse roles in diverse settings.

All social work education is built on a strong liberal arts base in order to produce social workers who can think critically, analyze alternatives skillfully, communicate well verbally and in writing, appreciate their own culture and that of others, and dedicate themselves to life-long learning. The Council on Social Work Education (CSWE) has set national standards for this specialized education. It is the only accrediting agency for social work education and is so designated by the United States Office of Education and the Council on Post-Secondary Education.

In Texas and most other states, graduation from a school accredited by CSWE is a requirement for licensure as a social worker. Additionally, to be eligible for advanced placement in graduate schools of social work, applicants must have baccalaureate degrees from programs accredited by CSWE. The Baylor University Social Work Program has been affiliated with the Council since

1965. Initial accreditation was granted to the baccalaureate program in 1976 and to the graduate program in 2001. The accreditation of both programs was reaffirmed in 2021.

MISSION, GOALS, AND PHILOSOPHY

Introduction

Social work has been a part of the university's curriculum since the first course was taught in the Department of Sociology in 1936. The first full-time faculty member with an MSW was hired in 1962. In 1969, the department launched a complete baccalaureate social work program to prepare students for the beginning level of social work practice. A feasibility study conducted during academic year 1997-98 documented the significant needs which Baylor University could address in its graduate social work program. Based on that study, the Baylor Board of Regents approved a Master of Social Work degree and the School of Social Work was established in January 1999. The program was moved from within the department of Sociology, Anthropology, Social Work and Gerontology to become a separate department in the College of Arts and Sciences. In September 2004, the School of Social Work was granted independent status with a dean, effective June 2005. In April 2015, the school was renamed after its inaugural dean, becoming the Diana R. Garland School of Social Work (GSSW).

Through its baccalaureate and graduate programs, the Garland School of Social Work prepares professional social workers for building healthy communities, and provides effective leadership in social service, social action, and advocacy for social justice in many settings, including religious organizations and faith communities.

BSW Program Mission Statement

The mission of the Baylor University Diana R. Garland School of Social Work Baccalaureate Program is to prepare generalist social workers in a Christian context for worldwide service and leadership.

For more information about the Garland School, including program goals, see our website.

Role and Impact of Religion, Spirituality and Philosophical Perspectives

The Garland School of Social Work teaches its students the importance of holistic and ethical social work practice, which includes a focus on the role and impact of religion, spirituality, and philosophical perspectives. Regardless of the setting of social work practice — public or private, religious or nonsectarian — social workers need to understand and be able to work effectively and professionally with the religious, faith, and spirituality dimensions of persons and of communities. They also need to have examined their own religious frameworks and spirituality

in order to know how these personal aspects inform, conflict with, and can be used in their service as social work professionals.

BSW ADMISSIONS

Entry to the Major

Students wishing to pursue the Bachelor of Social Work (BSW) degree must apply for admission to the major. Students who transfer to Baylor University should discuss application for admission to the program with the program manager for baccalaureate studies. Admission to the major requires the following:

- Completion of SWO 2321 Introduction to Social Work, or its equivalent, with a minimum grade of "C" in the course.
- An overall GPA of 2.7 on a four-point scale and a grade of "C" or better in all social work courses.
- Submitted application form, including an agreement to abide by the GSSW Student Code of Conduct and affirmation of the Code of Ethics as outlined by the National Association of Social Workers

Transfer students applying to the major, who have not yet earned a Baylor GPA, must present a transfer GPA of 2.7 or above for admission to the major. All students admitted to the major must maintain an overall GPA of 2.7 or above to continue in the social work major.

BSW Program leadership reviews applications throughout the year and will provide notification regarding student entry to the major prior to term registration deadlines. Notification will include one of the following decisions:

- 1. Admitted, contingent upon achieving a 2.7 overall GPA and C or better in SWO 2321 prior to entering the major.
- 2. Not Admitted.
 - 1. If a student is not admitted, they must wait one year to re-apply. The student is not allowed to reapply to the term for which they were originally denied.

The written decision of the admissions committee will be communicated to the applicant within fifteen days of the decision date. Students are confirmed as "admitted" when they accept their offer of admission which outlines the standards and conditions for maintaining their standing in the program. Students must be admitted to the program prior to enrolling in Practice I (SWO 3371 Social Work Practice I: Generalist Practice).

Students must maintain a GPA of 2.7 or higher and not have a grade below "C" in social work courses to continue in the major. To be eligible for practicum internship, students must have a minimum grade of "B" in Practice I (SWO 3371 Social Work Practice I: Generalist Practice), Practice II (SWO 4372 Social Work Practice II: Generalist Practice with Groups), and Practice

III (SWO 4373 Social Work Practice III: Generalist Practice with Organizations and Communities) and a GPA of 2.7 or higher in the major. To be eligible to graduate, students must have a minimum grade of "B" in Internship I (SWO 4491 Social Work Internship I) and II

(SWO 4492 Social Work Internship II).

Additional details regarding policies and procedures related to the BSW program, including academic warning within the major, are found in the BSW Student Handbook. Inquiries regarding the GSSW undergraduate application can be directed to the BSW program manager.

5 YEAR PROGRAM

Undergraduate students who apply to the social work major are candidates for the 5-year program. If a student is admitted to the BSW program, and meets all requirements for maintaining eligible 5-year status, they are not required to complete a separate application to the graduate program. The student then graduates in 5 years with a BSW and MSW. Students should refer to the MSW catalog for specific admission requirements.

FINANCIAL AID

Garland School of Social Work Scholarships

Enrolled students may also apply for financial assistance in the Garland School of Social Work. The Garland School of Social Work has limited scholarship funds available for students who have been admitted to and taken at least two courses in the social work major. Scholarships are awarded annually based on need and merit. Need is determined through the Office of Financial Aid once students have completed the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA).

Social Work Scholarship Application Process

Students apply for these scholarships by completing the GSSW Financial Aid form and submitting it to the BSW Program Manager. The GSSW Scholarship Committee recommends students each spring to receive the scholarship the following academic year, based on the following criteria:

- 1. Admission to the social work baccalaureate program
- 2. Completion of at least six hours of social work courses
- 3. Significant need for financial assistance AND/OR noteworthy academic performance
- 4. Demonstrated internalization of basic social work values, commitment to the work of the social work profession, and involvement in the school's programs and special events
- 5. Completion of the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA)
- 6. Fit with the particular stipulations of available scholarship funds

Students who are interested and believe they are qualified should complete the application for financial assistance. Applications are due in early spring, for the upcoming academic year and

can be found at http://www.baylor.edu/social_work/bswfinaid. Students are notified via email when the application is available.

PROFESSIONAL STUDENT ORGANIZATIONS

Student Chapters of Professional and Academic Organizations

Phi Alpha

Phi Alpha is the National Honor Society for Social Work students. The Eta Sigma Chapter of Phi Alpha was chartered at Baylor University in 1998. The purpose of Phi Alpha is to promote a closer bond among students of social work and to foster humanitarian goals and ideals. Phi Alpha proudly encourages high standards of education for social workers and invites into membership those who have attained excellence in scholarship and achievements in social work. To be eligible for membership as a BSW student you must satisfy the following requirements:

Undergraduate Students

- Be enrolled at Baylor University and have declared social work as a major
- Have completed 9 semester hours of required social work courses or at least 37.5% of the total hours/credits required for the degree, whichever is later achieved
- Rank in the top 35% of the BSW program

Invitations are sent to those students who qualify. There is an induction ceremony where students can participate and is considered the annual membership meeting. There are opportunities for Phi Alpha members to help in the community, as well as within the School, in the role of ambassadors for School of Social Work events.

Social Work Student Groups and Activities

The school encourages social work students to participate in social work student groups and activities. The purpose of student groups and activities is to provide an opportunity through which students can participate in the governance of the school, coordinate their interests, and act cooperatively on behalf of all social work students and those they serve. Student groups include both undergraduate and graduate students, faculty advisors and student officers. The groups meet for program meetings that focus on issues relevant to their social work education and preparation for practice.

National Association of Social Workers

"The National Association of Social Workers (NASW) is the largest membership organization of professional social workers in the world. NASW works to hence the professional growth and development of its members, to create and maintain professional standards, and to advance sound social policies." (NASW brochure). For more information, visit the NASW website at: www.naswdc.org. By joining NASW, student members receive the information, contacts, and

resources needed for launching a successful social work career, with a 75 percent savings on a regular membership.

Student Representation on School Committees

Student representatives on school committees are identified and recruited by members of the Student Development Committee. Responsibilities for participation on school committees include regular attendance and communication from students to committee and from committee to students. Student representatives who are unable to fulfill their responsibilities should resign to the Student Development Committee chair and be replaced.

GENERAL STUDENT POLICIES

Student Code of Conduct

The mission of the Garland School of Social Work focuses on the education and preparation of students for professional social work practice. Students are expected to practice upholding the major themes of the school: community building, strengths perspective, and the ethical and anti-oppressive consideration of religion, spirituality, philosophy, and world-view. Students are expected to uphold the core values and ethical standards of the social work profession. These values and ethical principles are identified and discussed in the Council on Social Work Education (CSWE) Educational Policy and Accreditation Standards (EPAS), in the NASW Code of Ethics, and in the Texas State licensing standards (or comparable licensing standards in other states). As a part of the requirement for baccalaureate entry into the major and graduate entry into the program and for all practice in the community, students are asked to read and abide by the following Student Code of Conduct derived from the NASW Code of Ethics and the Texas State Licensing Board regulations. (Numbers at the end of each item refer to the applicable section of the NASW Code of Ethics.)

- 1. Social work students are expected to uphold the values, ethics, and standards of the profession (5.01)
- 2. Social work students are expected to treat their peers, faculty, and staff with dignity and respect (2.01A), and avoid unwarranted negative criticism and demeaning comments of these colleagues (2.01B)
- 3. Social work students should strive to enhance their competence and recognize the need for continuous professional growth (4.01)
- 4. Social work students should not practice, condone, facilitate, or collaborate with any form of discrimination against persons (4.02)
- 5. Social work students should not participate in, condone, or facilitate any type of dishonesty, fraud, or deception (4.04)
- 6. Social work students whose personal problems, psychosocial distress, legal problems, substance abuse, or mental health difficulties interfere with their abilities to meet classroom and practicum practice requirements are expected to take appropriate remedial action and show documented evidence of the success of that action (4.05)

- 7. Social work students should not permit their private conduct to interfere with their classroom or practicum practice responsibilities (4.03)
- 8. Social work students engaged in research are expected to protect the confidentiality of human subjects, obtain voluntary informed consent, and inform participants of their right to withdraw from the study (5.02)
- 9. Social work students should take responsibility and credit, including authorship credit, only for work they have actually performed and to which they have contributed (4.08)

Standards of Practice

Prior to any academic work in the community that involves the use of social work knowledge, values and skills, students are asked to review the entire NASW Code of Ethics and the applicable state code. The following are some of the major standards for practice in the community as delineated in the NASW Code of Ethics.

Please note: If at any time during your classroom or practicum internship experiences, you find yourself in a situation in which you have questions about a potential ethical concern, please contact your practicum instructor, faculty liaison, or the director of practicum education.

Commitment to Clients (1.01)

A social worker's primary responsibility is to promote the well-being of clients.

Self-Determination (1.02)

Social workers respect and promote the right of clients to self-determination and assist clients in their efforts to identify and clarify their goals.

Competence (1.04)

Social workers should provide services and represent themselves as competent only within the boundaries of their education. It is important to inform your clients that you are a student.

Cultural Awareness and Social Diversity (1.05)

Social workers should have a knowledge base of their clients' cultures and be able to demonstrate competence in the provision of services that are sensitive to clients' cultures and to differences among people and cultural groups.

Conflicts of Interest (1.06)

- 1. (a) Social workers should be alert to and avoid conflicts of interest that interfere with the exercise of professional discretion and impartial judgment.
- 2. (b) Social workers should not take unfair advantage of any professional relationship.
- 3. (c) Social workers should not engage in dual or multiple relationships with clients or former clients in which there are risks of exploitation or potential harm to the client.

Privacy and Confidentiality (1.07)

Social workers should protect the confidentiality of all information obtained in the course of professional service, except for compelling professional reasons.

Sexual Relationships (1.09)

Social workers should under no circumstances engage in sexual activities or sexual conduct with current or former clients, whether such conduct is consensual or forced.

Physical Contact (1.10)

Social workers should not engage in physical contact with clients when there is a possibility of psychological harm to the clients as a result of the contact (such as cradling or caressing clients).

Derogatory Language (1.12)

Social workers should use accurate and respectful language in all communications to and about clients.

Ethical Responsibility to Colleagues (2.01& 2.07)

Social workers should treat colleagues with respect and should represent accurately and fairly the qualifications, views and obligations of colleagues.

Social workers should cooperate with social work colleagues and with colleagues of other professions when such cooperation serves the well-being of clients.

Social workers should avoid engaging in sexual relationships with colleagues when there is a potential conflict of interest.

Policy on Course Waivers and Academic Credit

The program does not waive course requirements of the professional foundation areas or for the practicum internship. No academic credit is given for previous work or life experiences.

Student Rights and Responsibilities

The rights of social work students include, but are not limited to:

- Right to participate in shaping the development of plans, programs, and policies that affect quality of the School of Social Work's curriculum
- Right to learn in an environment that promotes individual and career development
- Right to learn in a diverse community which provides exposure to a wide range of viewpoints

The responsibilities of social work students include, but are not limited to:

- Accountability for their own learning
- Expectation to perform as a social work professional according to the guidelines of the NASW Code of Ethics

• Expectation to be an active agent in the process of continuously improving the School of Social Work's academic program

The school policy conforms to the Student Policies and Procedures as outlined by the Baylor Office of Judicial Affairs. See the Grievance and Appeals Procedures for information concerning if a student feels their right have been violated, and the Report It section regarding Title IX and Bias reporting.

Student/Program Communication and Notification

It is also the student's responsibility to keep a current address, Baylor University email address, and phone number on file with the university. Any changes in contact information should be updated in BearWeb. All students are required to obtain and monitor a Baylor email account. This contact information will be used to inform students of upcoming events and any unforeseen circumstances such as emergency cancellation of classes. Additionally, many faculty manage courses through Canvas.

The Garland School faculty and staff communicate with students through a variety of methods:

Email - Faculty use email to communicate with students concerning class assignments, activities, and appointments. All Canvas communication utilizes Baylor email. All students are required to obtain, monitor and use a Baylor email address. Students should check the clutter folders regularly.

Website/Electronic Bulletin Boards - The School maintains a webpage within the main Baylor University website, which provides information to current and prospective students, including job announcements for current and graduating students. Canvas also may be utilized by faculty to post classroom and other important information. Students should check these information sources frequently.

Other Methods - Other methods of communicating school information to students include updates at student organization meetings, announcements in classes, standard mail, and email. "The Voice" is a school newsletter that is emailed weekly to students.

Students should check their Baylor e-mail daily. These methods of communication serve as primary channels of information for the baccalaureate and graduate program about program updates and changes.

Course Policies

Policies pertinent to all courses are found in the Course Policy Syllabus Appendix which you can find at this link https://baylor.box.com/s/p157iocnycgphyxk87u8a7elp7byveh4

These policies apply to every course and address important areas such as academic integrity, the Office of Access and Learning Accommodations, Title IX, technology expectations, and. More. You, as the student, are responsible for reading these policies prior to the start of the term and

adhering to them throughout the entire term. The following policies are found, as an appendix, in each course syllabus. For the most updated information, please check your syllabi for the current term.

ACADEMIC ADVISING AND PROFESSIONAL MENTORING

Academic Advising

The BSW program manager is a professional staff position with support and training from the university related to use of the university's course advising and registration systems. The program manager conducts academic advising for the purposes of creating and maintaining an educational plan that helps students identify and register for social work courses. This person refers students to their professional mentor for professional development questions.

Purpose of Baylor GSSW Baccalaureate Professional Mentoring

Professional mentoring in the Baylor GSSW is designed as a resource to provide strengths-based, empathic, and individualized support that engages and empowers students to maximize their personal, professional, and educational development. As mentors, faculty support students in achieving academic and professional success.

The mentor role includes enriching development for students who wish to explore any concerns in a more individualized and supportive context. When appropriate, the faculty mentor may be notified if a student has exceptional difficulty with professional or academic issues in an effort to provide additional support.

Procedures for Baccalaureate Student Professional Mentoring

Upon admission to the Garland School, undergraduate students are eligible to request a faculty mentor. They may do this by submitting the faculty mentor request form, which they receive at the beginning of each fall and spring semester from the BSW Program Manager. Mentors are requested and assigned one semester at a time.

BACCALAUREATE SOCIAL WORK CURRICULUM

Throughout the curriculum, the baccalaureate social work program coursework provides students with the opportunity to acquire knowledge and skills that will enable them to develop into competent social work professionals. Students learn ten competencies, including specific practice behaviors, throughout the curriculum and have an opportunity to demonstrate all of them in a practicum internship.

The curriculum is structured sequentially so that competence builds throughout the program and the Bachelor of Social Work (BSW) degree concludes with two semesters of 240 clock-hour internships. Orientation to practicum internship is required prior to application to practicum. The

internships are an integral part of the curriculum and engage the student in professionally supervised direct service delivery activities that provide practical experience in the application of theory and skills acquired in previous courses. An integrative seminar accompanies each semester of the internship and provides students with opportunities to compare their practice experiences with knowledge from their liberal arts and social work courses, expanding on knowledge beyond the classroom. The BSW degree requirements can be found in the <u>Baylor University Course Catalog</u>.

PRACTICUM POLICIES

Field policies and procedures can be found in the Practicum Manual.

ACADEMIC ACTIONS

Garland School Academic Standing Policy

Students must maintain an overall GPA of 2.7 or higher and not have a grade below C in social work courses to continue in the social work major in good standing. Social work students with 1 term below a 2.7 GPA are subject to academic warning within the major. Students with 2 consecutive terms of a GPA below 2.7 will be subject to a change of major. Students are responsible for noting minimum grade requirements for specific courses within the major.

Please see the <u>Baylor University Undergraduate Catalog</u> regarding academic standing within the university.

GRIEVANCE AND APPEAL PROCEDURES

The Garland School of Social Work faculty promulgates the following policies and procedures to protect students' rights and provide them relief from unfair criticism and treatment. This protocol is established for application in the event that a student believes his/her academic rights have been violated. This includes grades, assignments, internship issues, and alleged violations of professional behavior.

- 1. Conference with Faculty Member. Any student who believes a GSSW faculty member has treated them unfairly with respect to a course for which the student was registered or required to be registered may complain of such alleged unfair treatment. Such a student shall set up a conference with the involved faculty member and present that faculty member a written statement that details the circumstances giving rise to the complaint. An effort should be made to resolve the matter with the faculty member.
- 2. Appeal to Director of Practicum Education. If the situation involves a matter that pertains to practicum, the student may appeal to the director of appropriate practicum program. A

- written statement that details the circumstances giving rise to the complaint and a narrative of the effort to resolve the situation with practicum education must be provided to the director prior to the meeting. If appropriate, the internship faculty member will also provide the director with a written description of their view of the situation including efforts to resolve the issue. If the situation is not resolved to the student's satisfaction within 30 days, they may appeal to the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs.
- 3. Appeal to Associate Dean for Academic Affairs. If the situation is not resolved to the student's satisfaction, the student may appeal to the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs. A written statement that details the circumstances giving rise to the complaint and a narrative of the effort to resolve the situation with the faculty member must be provided to the Associate Dean of Academic Affairs prior to the meeting. The faculty member will also provide a written description of their view of the situation including efforts to resolve the issue. If the faculty member involved in the complaint is the associate dean, the student may appeal directly to the dean of the school. If the faculty member involved is the dean, the student may appeal directly to the provost of the university.
- 4. Appeal to the Dean of the School. If the situation is not resolved to the student's satisfaction within 30 days, or if the student is not satisfied with the findings of the Academic and Professional Development Committee (see p. 17, they may appeal to the dean of the school (or to the Executive Vice President and Provost if the complaint is against the dean). The student must provide the dean with a written statement that details the circumstances giving rise to the complaint and a narrative of efforts to resolve the conflict with the faculty, Associate Dean for Academic Affairs, or the Director of Practicum Education. The Associate Dean for Academic Affairs will provide the dean with a written description of their views of the situation, including efforts to resolve the issue.
- 5. Appeal to the Executive Vice President and Provost or his or her designee. If the complaint is not satisfactorily resolved by the dean of the school, then the student shall have the right to appeal such matter to the Executive Vice President and Provost, who after review may refer such matter to the University academic appeals committee. (See University Academic Appeals Policy and Procedure for details on the academic appeals committee)

Academic and Professional Development Evaluation Process: Decisions Related to Continuation/Discontinuation in the Social Work Program

In order to continue in their academic program, students must meet the academic and professional standards of the Program and social work profession. Professional standards are incorporated into the Program as an academic matter. Compliance with both academic and professional standards, including the NASW Code of Ethics, is subject to review in accordance with this evaluation process.

In order to identify and engage students in need of support in meeting academic and professional standards, the GSSW has established the Academic and Professional Development (APD)

Committee, to assist the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs in resolving academic and professional development concerns as needed. The ad hoc APD Committee Chair will be appointed by the dean or the dean's designee. The committee consists of the APD Chair, the student's mentor (if appropriate), and one other faculty member appointed by the APD Chair. If the APD Chair holds a potential adjudicative role in the appeals process, the Dean of the Garland School of Social Work will appoint another member of the faculty to serve as chair. If the mentor holds a potential adjudicative role in the appeals process, the APD Chair will appoint an interim mentor for the duration of the process. After the matter is resolved, the APD Chair will reassign the student to the student's previous mentor.

The functions of APD are to

- 1. facilitate student development in thinking critically, acting ethically and practicing effectively within the established standards of social work practice;
- 2. protect potential clients and agencies from sub-standard and unethical practice;
- 3. evaluate students requiring support to meet academic and professional standards;
- 4. develop supportive strategies for achieving academic and/or professional standards whenever possible; and
- 5. recommend to the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs and/or Dean of the Garland School of Social Work decisions regarding continuation in or termination from the Program.

The APD Committee does not assume a classroom or practicum faculty member's responsibility for critical evaluation and decision-making in assigning grades. When problems occur that may be serious enough to necessitate judgments regarding continuation or termination from the Social Work Program, the APD Evaluation Process may be enacted. Criteria used to identify these problems include:

- 1. Behavior in violation of standards of social work practice established by social work values, the NASW Code of Ethics, the Texas Board of Social Worker Examiners Code of Ethics, and the Student Code of Conduct of the Garland School of Social Work.
- 2. Academic integrity violations including cheating, lying, plagiarism, or falsifying process recordings or any other form of client documentation.
- 3. Other university policy violations (i.e., Student Code of Conduct, Title IX Policy, Civil Rights Policy, etc.).
- 4. Indication of an inability to effectively apply the knowledge, ability, and skills.
- 5. Indication of an inability to develop the appropriate knowledge and interpersonal skills necessary for effective social work practice.

The APD Committee may request assessments by professionals outside the program as deemed necessary. Students are also subject to Baylor University's Honor Code, academic and discipline policies, as outlined in <u>Baylor University Student Policies and Procedures</u>, and the general degree requirements found in this catalog or <u>Baylor University Undergraduate Catalog</u>.

Participation in the APD Committee process does not abridge the student's rights to use the University appeals process.

Academic and Professional Development Evaluation and Committee Procedures

The following procedures are to be followed in making referrals to APD Committee and by all parties involved in the APD process:

- 1. Referrals to the APD Committee can be made only by Associate Dean for Academic Affairs. In unusual situations, referrals may be made by the Dean of the Garland School of Social Work following the procedures set out for the Associate Dean.
- 2. When a Director of Practicum Education, Program Director, or faculty member identifies an issue that threatens the student's progress in the program, they will submit a letter to the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs and the student, detailing the concern(s), the steps taken to date, and, if possible, suggesting potential remedies. The Associate Dean for Academic Affairs may make a referral to the APD Committee without a referral from a faculty member.
- 3. Within two weeks of receiving the letter from the Director of Practicum Education, Program Director, or faculty member, the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs will communicate in writing to the student and to the referring director/faculty member their decision to (1) determine no further action is required, (2) take action to resolve the issue, or (3) at any point refer to the situation to the APD Committee. If the Associate Dean chooses to resolve the issue, the next steps and expectations will be provided in writing to both the student and the referring director/faculty member. If the Associate Dean chooses to refer to the APD, the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs will submit a letter to the Dean of the Garland School of Social Work, with a copy to the student, detailing the concern(s) and any action she or he has taken on the situation. This letter should make clear the specific issue(s) the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs wishes the APD Committee to address, steps already taken, and possible remedies as the Associate Dean sees them. The original letter from the director/faculty member and any additional documentation should be included with this letter.
- 4. Within two weeks of receiving the referral, the Chair of the Academic and Professional Development Committee will be appointed by the dean, and the APD Chair will appoint members to the APD and call a meeting of the committee. At that time, the committee will hear the director/faculty member(s), the student, and anyone else they deem necessary. The committee may meet as many times as necessary, but a final decision should be made within two weeks or less from the first meeting date. The committee may request an extension of this time, up to 15 days, from the Dean of the Garland School of Social Work. The Dean of the Garland School of Social Work will assign appropriate staffing to the committee.
- 5. The APD Committee will use its professional judgment to recommend an appropriate course of action to the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs. This action may include: (A) a developmental plan with input from the student, the faculty member(s), and other appropriate persons to resolve the issues within a specific time limit; (B) a referral to any other university committee for resolution; (C) a recommendation to the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs that the student be terminated from the program. A copy of the

- APD Committee's decision will be sent to the student, the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs, the Dean of the Garland School of Social Work, and placed in the student's Garland School of Social Work file.
- 6. If the APD Committee recommends a developmental plan, it shall include the consequences of failure to follow the plan. The Associate Dean for Academic Affairs is responsible for monitoring the plan but may delegate this responsibility to the mentor or other director/faculty member. When the terms of the plan have been met, the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs will notify the APD Chair, the Dean of the Garland School of Social Work, and place documentation in the student's folder. If the terms of the plan are not met, the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs is responsible for imposing the agreed upon consequences.
- 7. The student may appeal the decision of the Associate Dean or APD Committee following the Garland School of Social Work Grievance and Appeal Procedures, beginning with step number 4 Appeal to the Dean of the Garland School of Social Work.